RECEIVED

Feb 12 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

William H. Seals Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2023-000540

Target Motors, LLC d/b/a Port City Motors,

Appellant,

v.

Grand Strand Nissan, Inc., and Grainger
Companies, Inc. d/b/a Grainger Honda,

Defendants,

Of which Grand Strand Nissan, Inc., is the

Respondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Brooks R. Fudenberg
LAW OFFICES OF BROOKS R. FUDENBERG, LLC
14 Ashe Street
Charleston, SC 29403
Tel.: (843) 696-8911

C. Steven Moskos
C. STEVEN MOSKOS, P.A.
6650 Rivers Ave., Ste 210
N. Charleston, SC 29406
Tel. (843) 763-5297

Attorneys for Appellant

QUESTION PRESENTED

When a car dealer deceptively sells a previously-wrecked vehicle, intending that it be resold, is the dealer automatically immune from liability to all purchasers after the first purchaser?

OVERVIEW

Respondent Grand Strand, Inc., an automobile dealer, deceptively placed a frame-damaged, rebuilt Nissan Titan into the stream of commerce. It did so via a dealers-only auction, where all vehicles are intended to be re-sold by the purchaser. Grand Strand did not disclose that the vehicle had been wrecked, or that the entire frame had been replaced, although the auction rules require all structural repairs and replacements to be disclosed. Its purchaser discovered the prior wreck and then did as Grand Strand had done: it resold the vehicle via the same auction, without disclosing the prior wreck or the frame replacement. Appellant Target Motors, LLC (“Target”) purchased the Titan. Target learned of the wreck when the consumer to whom Target sold the Titan learned of it and informed Target. Target promptly agreed to refund part of the purchase price. Target then sued Grand Strand. (Target also sued the intermediate purchaser-reseller, Grainger Companies, and the auction, Manheim Darlington, which had learned of the wreck in the interim between the two sales. Neither is a party to this appeal).

Target brought causes of action against Grand Strand for negligence, including carelessness, recklessness, willfulness, and wantonness, negligent misrepresentation, violation of the Unfair Trade Practices Act and Dealers Act, and fraud. Grand Strand does not dispute that, had it deceptively sold the wrecked Titan from its own lot to a customer, who later learned of the wreck, the customer could sue Grand Strand under each of these theories. But it claims that as an indirect seller that had no interaction with Target, it is immune from suit by Target,

as Grand Strand asserts a victim of a deceptive motor vehicle sale may sue only the party who sold it to him. The lower court agreed, and granted Grand Strand summary judgment, as a matter of law, before discovery was completed. Thus this appeal.

Grand Strand's position is unjust, for if any owner in the chain goes bankrupt, the deceptive dealer gets off scot-free. It is inefficient, for if each purchaser must sue only the seller it bought the vehicle from, courts will be required to adjudicate each link in the chain, as liability painstakingly moves up from each owner to the owner before it. The Order's reasoning is contrary to well-established jurisprudence and common sense. It rejected Target's claims on grounds that Grand Strand owed Target no duty. But it makes no sense to reject claims for reckless and intentional torts on grounds of a lack of duty. Courts do not ask, "But to whom did the defendant owe a duty not to be reckless?" They ask only whether the injury was proximately caused by the wrongful act, and hold the reckless or intentional wrongdoer liable for whatever harm he caused. Its sub-holdings that "all of Plaintiff's claims require either that Grand Strand have some form of communication, relationship, or interaction with Plaintiff" and therefore "Grand Strand did not owe a duty to Plaintiff under any theory recognized by South Carolina law" further err because they contradict the Supreme Court's holding that it would be "absurd" to "prohibit UTPA actions by all remote buyers," Colleton Preparatory Acad., Inc. v. Hoover Universal, Inc. ("Colleton Prep."), 379 S.C. 181, 196, 666 S.E.2d 247, 255 (2008), overruled on other grounds by Sapp v. Ford Motor Co., 386 S.C. 143, 687 S.E.2d 47 (2009), as well as this Court's holding in Rayfield v. S.C. Dep't of Corr., 297 S.C. 95, 103, 374 S.E.2d 910, 914 (Ct. App. 1988). Rayfield held that a plaintiff establishes a duty by showing that a statute protects a class of which he is a member from the kind of harm which he experienced. It is plain that the UTPA and Dealers Act protect the class of automobile

buyers from deceptive sales by automobile dealers. It is simply not necessary that a defendant have prior “communication, relationship, or interaction” with the plaintiff. E.g., Gossett v. Burnett, 251 S.C. 548, 164 S.E.2d 578 (1968) (finding a case should go to the jury where initial tortfeasor set off burglar alarm, and officer sped to the scene, failing to give proper notice he would run a red light, colliding with a second vehicle, which then collided with a third, which then collided with plaintiff’s vehicle (the fourth vehicle)). Courts routinely hold defendants liable for acts that hurt persons with whom they had no prior “communication, relationship, or interaction”—for example, where Driver A negligently causes Driver B to crash into a vehicle driven by Driver C.

Its holdings on proximate cause employ the wrong standard of decision. The Order holds that “Plaintiff failed to prove that Grand Strand was the proximate cause of Plaintiff’s damages,” but a party resisting summary judgment need not prove his claims.

Its holdings also misunderstand the doctrine of proximate cause. The doctrine of proximate cause has two parts, but-for causation (or “causation-in-fact”), and foreseeability. The Order misunderstands each. It holds, “The test for cause in fact is not: ‘but for’ Grand Strand’s sale to Grainger, Plaintiff suffered damages.” But that is exactly what the test is, as many cases have held. The Order even quotes a decision from the Supreme Court stating exactly that: “Causation-in-fact is proved by establishing the injury would not have occurred ‘but for’ the defendant’s negligence[.]” Under the Order’s own case, the decision should be for Target.

As for foreseeability, “[t]he touchstone of proximate cause in South Carolina,” Koester v. Carolina Rental Ctr., Inc., 313 S.C. 490, 493, 443 S.E.2d 392, 394 (1994), it is eminently foreseeable that where a dealer sells a previously-wrecked pickup as never having been

wrecked, someone is going to end up with a previously-wrecked pickup after paying for a never-wrecked one. That is all our law requires. “It is sufficient that in view of all the attendant circumstances, he should have foreseen that his negligence would probably result in injury of some kind to some one.” Tobias v. Carolina Power & Light Co., 190 S.C. 181, 186, 2 S.E.2d 686, 688 (1939). The injury was foreseeable. The Order’s holding that the injury was not foreseeable is wrong.

Its sub-holdings include several independently reversible errors. In support of its sub-holding that “There are simply too many intervening negligent events” for proximate cause to exist, it cites only one case—which says nothing about too many events defeating proximate cause. The Supreme Court has repeatedly stated that the test is not the number of events. “The test is to be found in the probable consequences reasonably to be anticipated, and not in the number or exact character of events subsequently arising.” Matthews v. Porter, 239 S.C. 620, 626, 124 S.E.2d 321, 324 (1962). Pfaehler v. Ten Cent Taxi Co., 198 S.C. 476, 486, 18 S.E.2d 331, 335 (1942) (similar).

And the case the Order relies on for its holding re foreseeability, Oliver v. South Carolina Dep’t of Highways & Pub. Transp., 309 S.C. 313, 422 S.E.2d 128 (1992), actually states,

[I]f the character of the intervening act claimed to break the connection between the original wrongful act and the subsequent injury was such that its probable or natural consequences could reasonably have been anticipated, apprehended, or foreseen by the original wrongdoer, the causal connection is not broken and the original wrongdoer is responsible for all the consequences resulting from the intervening act.

Oliver, 309 S.C. at 317, 422 S.E.2d at 131 (emphasis added). Here, the consequence—someone ending up with a previously wrecked vehicle after paying for a never-wrecked one—could

reasonably have been anticipated by Grand Strand. Again, under the Order’s own case, the decision should be for Target.¹

To the extent that the Order may rely on its observation that “an intervening party, Grainger, had knowledge of the prior wreck damage and failed to disclose it to the Plaintiff,” it again errs, as “[I]t matters not that the supervening and concurrent cause was an act of negligence of a third person or even a wilful or criminal act.” Wineglass v. McMinn, 235 S.C. 537, 541–42, 112 S.E.2d 652, 654 (1960).²

To the extent the Order may intend that the identity of the victim was unforeseeable, it errs. There is no requirement that the identity of the specific victim be foreseeable. Tobias, 190 S.C. at 186, 2 S.E.2d at 688; see also Horne v. Atl. Coast Line R. Co., 177 S.C. 461, 471, 181 S.E. 642, 646 (1935) (holding it is “not necessary” for proximate cause “that the person committing it could or might have foreseen the particular consequence or precise form of the injury, ... or that it would occur to the particular person, if by the exercise of reasonable care it might have been foreseen or anticipated that some injury might result”).

The Order states (alteration in original), “when the evidence is susceptible of only one inference, [] proximate cause becomes a matter of law for the court.” Here, if the evidence is susceptible of only one inference, it is that the harm was foreseeable, and Target, not Grand Strand, is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

¹ And under many others. For example, Tobias and Matthews, cited above for related propositions, each contain language identical to the block quote from Oliver above. Tobias v. Carolina Power & Light Co., 190 S.C. 181, 186, 2 S.E.2d 686, 687-8 (1939); Matthews v. Porter, 239 S.C. 620, 627, 124 S.E.2d 321, 325 (1962).

² Again, our appellate courts have repeatedly so held. E.g., Culbertson v. Johnson Motor Lines, 226 S.C. 13, 24, 83 S.E.2d 338, 343 (1954) (similar); Ayers v. Atl. Greyhound Corp., 208 S.C. 267, 37 S.E.2d 737, 741 (1946)) (similar).

Additionally, courts in other jurisdictions considering similar defenses by businesses that deceptively place a vehicle into the stream of commerce reject those defenses. They find the initial wrongdoer liable to the indirect purchaser with whom the defendant had no interaction. E.g., Grabinski v. Blue Springs Ford Sales, Inc., 136 F.3d 565, 569 (8th Cir. 1998). As one court noted, “It is difficult to conceive of a commodity that is any more likely to involve knowledge by a seller that there is an especial likelihood that a misrepresentation will reach third persons and will influence their conduct, than in the case of a motor vehicle.” Clark v. McDaniel, 546 N.W.2d 590, 593-94 (Iowa 1996) (cleaned). As another noted, the defendant “collected a non-salvage premium for the car when it sold it” while wrongfully “shift[ing] the salvage discount downstream to someone else to bear.” Jones v. Santander Consumer USA Inc., No. 16-14012-CIV, 2016 WL 11570406, at *4 (S.D. Fla. Aug. 2, 2016), report and recommendation adopted, No. 2:16-CV-14012, 2016 WL 11570405 (S.D. Fla. Aug. 19, 2016). These cases and many others hold that upstream businesses that deceptively sell a vehicle are liable to the party that bears the foreseeable injury, under the same principles that South Carolina law upholds. This Court should so hold, too.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Target Motors, LLC d/b/a Port City Motors (“Target”) filed suit in the Horry County Court of Common Pleas on February 8, 2022. The original complaint alleged claims against Respondent Grand Strand Nissan, Inc. (“Grand Strand”), the intermediate purchaser-reseller, Grainger Companies, Inc. d/b/a Grainger Honda (“Grainger Companies”), and the auction, Manheim Remarketing, Inc. d/b/a Manheim Darlington (“Manheim Darlington”) stemming from Target’s purchase on January 2, 2020 of a used 2018 Nissan Titan SV pickup truck through Manheim Darlington’s online auction. (R. p. 96-108). Manheim Remarketing

Inc. removed the case to federal court on grounds of a federal question, as the original complaint had a claim under the federal Odometer Act. (R. p. 90-92). Target amended the complaint to remove Manheim Remarketing as a defendant and to remove the federal claim. (R. p. 20-29). The case was remanded to the Horry County Court on April 18, 2022. (R. p. 19).

The Amended Complaint (R. pp. 20-29) alleged that Grand Strand had performed wreck-related repairs to the wrecked Titan, then bought the truck, and sold it on November 14, 2019 as a “green light” vehicle via the Manheim online auto auction without disclosing the pickup had suffered extreme wreck related frame damage. (R. pp. 21-23). Manheim is a dealers-only auction, the rules of which require disclosure of this damage.

The Amended Complaint further alleged:

- repairing the wreck damage cost more than \$18,000 (R. p. 21);
- repairs included removing and replacing the frame (id.);
- upon discovering the wreck damage, Defendant Grainger Companies, which had bought the vehicle from Respondent Grand Strand, sold the vehicle without disclosure to Appellant Target via the same auction (R. pp. 21-23);
- Target then sold the vehicle to a customer (R. p. 23);
- Target learned of the wreck damage on or about February 17, 2020, when its customer discovered the damage and informed Target (id.); and
- Target and the customer thereupon agreed on a payment from Target to the customer (id.).

The Amended Complaint brought claims against Grand Strand for negligence, including carelessness, recklessness, willfulness, and wantonness, negligent misrepresentation, violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act (“UTPA”), S.C. Code Ann. Sections

39-5-10 to -730, and the South Carolina Regulation of Manufacturers, Distributors, and Dealers Act (“Dealers Act”), S.C. Code Ann. Sections 56-15-10 to -600, and fraud. (R. pp. 24-28). It also brought similar claims and a breach of contract claim against the intermediary purchaser-reseller, Grainger Companies. (R. p. 23-28). (Grainger Companies is not a party to this appeal).

Grand Strand’s Answer, filed April 26, 2022, denied all liability and raised six affirmative defenses. (R. pp. 30-37). Grand Strand did not argue that, had it deceptively sold the wrecked Titan from its own lot to a customer, who later learned of the wreck, the customer could not sue Grand Strand under each of these theories. But it asserted that Target’s injuries were due solely to “the intervening and superseding acts of third parties” (R. p. 36) (Third Defense), that any damage to Target was due to Target’s own negligence (*id.*) (Fourth Defense), and that “the negligence of Grand Strand is not the direct or proximate cause of any injury alleged by the Plaintiff” (*id.*) (Fifth Defense).

On October 5, 2022, Grand Strand moved for summary judgment under Rule 56, SCRCPP, on all of Target’s claims against it (R. pp. 112-13), and filed its memorandum in support on December 22, 2022 (R. pp. 137-147). Target filed its memorandum in opposition on January 2, 2023. (R. pp. 151-173). A hearing was held on January 3 before the Honorable William H. Seals, Jr. A Form 4 order issued on January 5, 2023. It dealt with two motions.³ As to Grand Strand’s motion, it stated, “Defendant’s Motion/Summary Judgment is Granted. A Formal Order to Follow by [Grand Strand’s] Attorney Mary Caskey.” (R. p. 1).

The more formal order by Ms. Caskey (“the Order”) was electronically signed by the judge without change and filed on January 19, 2023. (R. pp. 4-15). The formal Order holds for

³ The second motion concerned a discovery issue between Target and Grainger Companies.

Grand Strand as a matter of law. (R. p. 7) (holding that “Grand Strand’s alleged fault is too remote to be linked to Plaintiff’s damages as a matter of law” as to all claims). It further holds that “all of Plaintiff’s claims require either that Grand Strand have some form of communication, relationship, or interaction with Plaintiff regarding the history and condition of the Truck” (*id.*); that “Grand Strand did not owe a duty to Plaintiff under any theory recognized by South Carolina law” (R. p. 8); that “[t]he test for cause in fact is not: ‘but for’ Grand Strand’s sale to Grainger, Plaintiff suffered damages” (R. p. 11); that “[t]here are simply too many intervening negligent events to link Grand Strand to Plaintiff’s damages,” (*id.*); that the UTPA does not allow actions by remote buyers (R. p. 12), and that “Grand Strand did not violate the Dealers Act” (R. p. 13).

Target’s motion to reconsider was denied by Form 4 order filed March 3, 2023. (R. p. 16). Discovery had not been completed when these orders issued. (R. p. 62, lines 21-22; p. 66, lines 20-21:2; p. 73, lines 19-24). Nor is discovery concluded as of this writing.

Notice of Appeal was served on March 31, 2023.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Most of the relevant facts are provided above in the Statement of the Case. One procedural fact should be pointed out: while the Order may leave the unfortunate impression that Target sued Grand Strand for breach of contract, Target did not do so. (R. p. 23) (amended complaint seeking breach of contract damages only against Grainger Companies); (R. p. 160) (Target’s Mem. Opp. p. 10) (Target’s Opposition to Grand Strand’s motion, stating that Target “has not made a contract claim against Grand Strand”).

It should also be pointed out, substantively:

- The auction rules require sellers to “disclose permanent structural damage, any

structural alterations, structural repairs or replacements.” (R. p. 202) (Arbitration Policy – In-Lane and Online, p. 11).⁴

- Grand Strand did not disclose. (R. p. 6).
- It was eminently foreseeable to a seller like Grand Strand at a dealers-only auction like the Manheim auction that the vehicle would be sold to a dealer and eventually to a consumer. In fact, the auction is limited to vehicles intended to be re-sold. The Auction’s Terms and Conditions state, “[A]ny Vehicle is purchased for resale in the form of tangible personal property in the regular course of business and is the sort usually purchased [for] resale.” (R. p. 210) paragraph (m)) (Manheim Terms and Conditions, p. 5 paragraph (m)).
- There were three obvious possibilities at the time Grand Strand put the vehicle up for sale: The dealer to whom Grand Strand sells the vehicle will quickly discover the problem and rescind the contract, demand compensation, or otherwise frustrate Grand Strand’s intent; the dealer to whom Grand Strand sells the vehicle will discover the problem and pass it on without disclosure, as happened here; or the dealer to whom Grand Strand sells the vehicle will not discover the problem, and will pass it on to another buyer.

⁴ Sales under green lights, like the sales here, are guaranteed by the seller and any defects or issues requiring disclosure per the auction’s policies must be announced. (R. p. 117) (Bill of Sale, p. 1); (p. 194 Sec. II(1)) (Arbitration Policy – In-Lane and Online, p. 3 Sec. II(1)).

ARGUMENT

BACKGROUND LAW

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review is de novo as to all claims. The Order holds for Grand Strand as a matter of law (R. p. 7), and matters of law are reviewed de novo. Wright v. PRG Real Est. Mgmt., Inc., 426 S.C. 202, 211–12, 826 S.E.2d 285, 290 (2019) (“When a circuit court grants summary judgment on a question of law, this Court will review the ruling de novo.”). The Order’s rejections of the statutory claims are reviewed de novo for the additional reason that these decisions were based on interpretations of statutes: the interpretation of a statute is a question of law, which is reviewed de novo. Layman v. State, 376 S.C. 434, 444, 658 S.E.2d 320, 325 (2008).⁵

II. STANDARDS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Summary judgment under Rule 56, SCRPC, is a “drastic remedy” that should be invoked only “cautiously” “to ensure that a litigant is not improperly deprived of a trial on disputed factual issues.” BPS, Inc. v. Worthy, 362 S.C. 319, 326, 608 S.E.2d 155, 159 (Ct. App. 2005). Its purpose is simply “to expedite disposition of cases which do not require the services of a fact finder.” Id. Summary judgment “is proper only when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Hoard ex rel. Hoard v. Roper Hosp., Inc., 387 S.C. 539, 546, 694 S.E.2d 1, 4 (2010).

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