RECEIVED

Feb 16 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

William H. Seals, Jr. Circuit Court Judge

Trial Court Case No.: 2022-CP-26-00861
Appellate Case No. 2023-000540

Target Motors, LLC d/b/a Port City Motors.....Appellant,

v.

Grand Strand Nissan, Inc., and Grainger Companies, Inc. d/b/a Grainger Honda Defendants,

Of which Grand Strand Nissan, Inc. is theRespondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

HAYNSWORTH SINKLER BOYD, P.A.

Mary M. Caskey (SC Bar No. 76198)
P.O. Box 11889
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1189
(803) 779-3080
mcaskey@hsblawfirm.com

Sarah P. Spruill (SC Bar No. 68337)
P.O. Box 2048

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

South Carolina 429 (3d ed. 2016) (listing cases where courts have declined to reach the merits of arguments not presented in the statement of issues).

Here, the orders on appeal do not include any finding that a “dealer [is] automatically immune from liability to all purchasers after the first purchaser.” Nor has Grand Strand made any argument to that effect. Instead, Grand Strand argued and the circuit court found that based on the undisputed facts of this case, that there was no question of material fact as to the claims asserted against Grand Strand.

The order methodically addresses each claim and finds that summary judgment was appropriate because: (1) Grand Strand did not owe any duty to Target Motors; (2) Grand Strand did not cause any damage to Target Motors; (3) Grand Strand did not make any representations to Target Motors; (4) Grand Strand did not act unfairly or deceptively with respect to Target Motors so as to trigger the UTPA; and (5) Target Motors did not have a claim against Grand Strand under the Dealer’s Act. (R. at 4-15). The statement presented by Target Motors does not reach any of these specific findings by the circuit court. As such, this Court should find those rulings are the law of the case and affirm. *ML-Lee Acquisition Fund, L.P. v. Deloitte & Touche*, 327 S.C. 238, 241, 489 S.E.2d 470, 472 (1997) (holding unappealed ruling is law of the case); *Jones v. Lott*, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010) (“Under the two issue rule, where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case.”).³

³ In addition, the body of the brief does not include any specific argument as to the UTPA, negligent misrepresentation, or fraud causes of action. As such, there is no basis for reversal as to Sections 2 and 3 of the circuit court’s January 19 order.

II. In the event the Court is inclined to reach the merits, Grand Strand was entitled to summary judgment as to each of the causes of action pursued by Target Motors.

A. Grand Strand did not owe any duties to Target Motors sufficient to support a claim in negligence.

South Carolina law does not impose a general obligation to act in any certain way with respect to third parties (or in other words, the law does not recognize a wrong) without a duty. *Hendricks v. Clemson Univ.*, 353 S.C. 449, 456–57, 578 S.E.2d 711, 714 (2003) (“An affirmative legal duty exists only if created by statute, contract, relationship, status, property interest, or some other special circumstance. Ordinarily, the common law imposes no duty on a person to act.” (citation omitted)). Issues of existence and scope of duty are questions of law for the court. *Id.*; *Staples v. Duell*, 329 S.C. 503, 506–07, 494 S.E.2d 639, 641 (Ct. App. 1997).

South Carolina has not recognized a theory of liability where a previous vehicle owner could be held liable to a future purchaser for failing to disclose wreck damage where the parties had no relationship or interaction and there was no reliance by the plaintiff on any representation made by the defendant. More generally, Target Motors seeks to recover for a nondisclosure with respect to a transaction to which it was not a party. As a general rule, courts are reluctant to create new duties or to expand tort liability. *Staples*, 329 S.C. at 510–11, 494 S.E.2d at 643; *see Wyatt v. Fowler*, 326 S.C. 97, 101, 484 S.E.2d 590, 592 (1997) (holding that the state does not owe its citizens a duty of care to proceed without error when it brings legal action against them); *Byerly v. Connor*, 307 S.C. 441, 443–44, 415 S.E.2d 796, 798 (1992) (holding that the South Carolina Public Service Authority had no duty to discover and warn of a latent hazardous condition on land that it leased to another).

In response to Grand Strand’s motion for summary judgment, Target Motors argued that there was a common law duty to disclose based on the “circumstances of the case, the nature of [the parties’] dealings, or their position towards each other,” citing *Wright v. Craft*, 372 S.C. 1, 25,

640 S.E.2d 486, 499 (Ct. App. 2006). (R. at 155). Under *Wright*, a duty to disclose can arise under the following circumstances:

- (1) where it arises from a preexisting definite fiduciary relation between the parties;
- (2) where one party expressly reposes a trust and confidence in the other with reference to the particular transaction in question, or else from the circumstances of the case, the nature of their dealings, or their position towards each other, such a trust and confidence in the particular case is necessarily implied;
- (3) where the very contract or transaction itself, in its essential nature, is intrinsically fiduciary and necessarily calls for perfect good faith and full disclosure without regard to any particular intention of the parties.

372 S.C. at 25, 640 S.E.2d at 499.

The circuit court correctly rejected this argument because there was no relationship or communication between Grand Strand and Target Motors and it was undisputed that Target Motors did not rely on any representations or disclosures by Grand Strand in buying the Truck.⁴ See *S.C. State Ports Auth. v. Booz-Allen & Hamilton, Inc.*, 289 S.C. 373, 376, 346 S.E.2d 324, 325–26 (1986) (“A tortfeasor’s duty arises from his relationship to the injured party.”); *Ravan v. Greenville Cnty.*, 315 S.C. 447, 467, 434 S.E.2d 296, 308 (Ct. App. 1993) (“[T]he parties shall have sustained a relationship recognized by law as the foundation of a duty of care.”). The parties did not have a pre-existing definite fiduciary relationship. The parties did not enter into a contract or transaction. And finally, a duty based on trust and confidence cannot be implied from the circumstances because Target Motors admitted that it did not communicate with Grand Strand regarding the Truck and admitted that it did not have a relationship with Grand Strand, contractual or otherwise.

This admitted lack of reliance distinguishes this case from the limited South Carolina case law finding that a duty can extend to third parties to a transaction if the defendant intended for

⁴ This is a disclosure case, not a traffic case or a case involving personal injury. As such, this Court should follow the rule in *Wright* as opposed to the cases cited by Target Motors relating to “duty to the public” or “actors that indirectly injured the victims in the motor vehicle context” as cited in Argument IV(A)(1) of the Appellant’s Brief.

third parties to rely on a representation and *if there was, in fact, reliance by a third party*. See *ML-Lee Acquisition Fund, L.P. v. Deloitte v. Touche*, 320 S.C. 143, 160-62, 463 S.E.2d 618, 628-29 (Ct. App. 1995) (finding an accountant owed a duty to third parties whom the accountant intended the information to benefit and when the third parties relied on an audit report prepared by the accountant), affirmed on this ground 327 S.C. at 241-42, 489 S.E.2d at 472; *Priv. Mortg. Inv. Servs., Inc. v. Hotel & Club Assocs., Inc.*, 296 F.3d 308, 313-15 (4th Cir. 2002) (finding an appraiser could be liable to a third party for negligent misrepresentation for information in an appraisal where the appraiser knew the appraiser would be used by third parties and the third party actually relied on the information); *Britt v. Sorin Grp. Deutschland GMBH*, No. 6:18-CV-03117-DCC, 2023 WL 5757306, at *6 (D.S.C. Sept. 6, 2023) (stating “that the Supreme Court of South Carolina has yet to extend negligent misrepresentation beyond the accounting or consulting contexts” in third party reliance cases).

Target Motors also argued at the summary judgment stage that there was a contractual duty. (R. at 156-157). However, there is no dispute that there was not a contractual relationship between the parties. As such, the circuit court correctly found that this theory did not give rise to a duty. The circuit court correctly noted that even if there were a contract, any claim in tort would be barred by the economic loss rule. (Order at 7 n. 3, citing *Tommy L. Griffin Plumbing & Heating Co. v. Jordan, Jones & Goulding, Inc.*, 320 S.C. 49, 54–55, 463 S.E.2d 85, 88 (1995) (“In most instances, a negligence action will not lie when the parties are in privity of contract.”)).

In its brief in Argument IV(A)(1), Target Motors has abandoned these first two arguments and has instead argued that the UTPA creates a statutory duty on the facts of this case and raised new arguments that there is a duty to the public and that the presence of alleged reckless conduct somehow negates the requirement that there be a duty. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497

S.E.2d 731, 734 (1998); *Shealy v. Doe*, 370 S.C. 194, 205–06, 634 S.E.2d 45, 51 (Ct. App. 2006) (“[W]hen an appellant fails to cite any supporting authority for his position and makes conclusory arguments, the appellant abandons the issue on appeal.”).⁵ Of these arguments relating to duty, only the UTPA argument is preserved. *Wilder Corp.*, 330 S.C. at 76, 497 S.E.2d at 734 (holding that an argument must have been raised to and ruled on by the circuit court to be preserved for appellate review).⁶ Target Motors does not and cannot cite to South Carolina case law standing for the proposition that there is not a duty requirement for allegations of recklessness. As such, this argument lacks merit and has been abandoned.

Based on a review of the Appellant’s Brief and the record, the only preserved issue relating to duty is limited to the UTPA. Although it is true that a statute may give rise to a duty in tort, the UTPA creates a separate statutory cause of action distinct from a common law tort claim. *See Reynolds v. Ryland Grp., Inc.*, 340 S.C. 331, 531 S.E.2d 917, 921 (2000) (“[T]he conduct prohibited by the SCUTPA is not merely duplicative of that addressed by the law of torts, contracts, and warranties.”); *Health Promotion Specialists, LLC v. S.C. Bd. of Dentistry*, 403 S.C. 623, 743 S.E.2d 808, 815 (2013) (treating the UTPA as its own tort for the purposes of the South Carolina Tort Claims Act). As a result, the UTPA does not create a duty supporting the negligence claims brought by Target Motors.

This is not a case involving a direct purchaser. Grainger, the direct purchaser of the Truck from Grand Strand, has sued Grand Strand in a separate action. In addition, Target Motors has sued Grainger. Thus, Target Motors is not left without a remedy if Grand Strand is dismissed from

⁵ Target Motors cannot correct this failure in its reply brief. *Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 692 (Ct. App. 2001) (“Additionally, even though [Appellant] more fully addressed the issue in its reply brief, an argument made in a reply brief cannot present an issue to the appellate court if it was not addressed in the initial brief.”).

this action. For all of these reasons, the circuit court’s order correctly analyzed the duty issue in granting the motion for summary judgment as to the negligence allegations, and the Order should be affirmed.

B. Grand Strand did not cause any harm to Target Motors.

Target Motors also contends that the circuit court erred in ruling that Grand Strand was not the proximate cause of Target Motors’ damages. A claim for “[n]egligence is not actionable unless it is a proximate cause of the injury.” *Bishop v. S.C. Dep’t of Mental Health*, 331 S.C. 79, 88, 502 S.E.2d 78, 83 (1998). “Proximate cause requires proof of both causation in fact and legal cause.” *Id.* “Causation in fact is proved by establishing the plaintiff’s injury would not have occurred ‘but for’ the defendant’s action.” *Mellen v. Lane*, 377 S.C. 261, 278, 659 S.E.2d 236, 245 (Ct. App. 2008). “Legal cause is proved by establishing foreseeability.” *Id.* “Foreseeability of some injury from an act or omission is a prerequisite to its being a proximate cause of the injury for which recovery is sought.” *Stone v. Bethea*, 251 S.C. 157, 161, 161 S.E.2d 171, 173 (1968). To determine foreseeability, courts look to the “natural and probable consequences of the complained of act.” *Young v. Tide Craft, Inc.*, 270 S.C. 453, 468, 242 S.E.2d 671, 678 (1978). A defendant cannot be charged with “that which is unpredictable or that which could not be expected to happen.” *Id.* When the evidence permits but one reasonable inference as to causation, a question of law is presented for the court. *Id.* at 464, 242 S.E.2d at 676.

The allegations against Grand Strand boil down to an alleged misrepresentation/nondisclosure. Accordingly, Target Motors was required to show a question of material fact existed as to whether Grand Strand’s misrepresentation was the proximate cause of its damages in order to defeat Grand Strand’s properly made and supported summary judgment motion.

- 1. There is no connection between Grand Strand's sale of the Truck to Grainger and the representations made at that time and the later alleged injury to Target Motors. As such, there is not a question of material fact as to whether Grand Strand's actions were a "but for" cause of the alleged injuries to Target Motors.**

Again, the claim here is that Target Motors was harmed when it purchased the Truck at auction without being told the Truck had structural damage. Turning first to causation in fact, Target Motors has admitted it did not rely on any acts or omissions of Grand Strand. (R. at 148-50, 151-53, 156-57, 22-23 ¶¶ 23-32; 135 # 9). Similarly, Target Motors admitted that it solely relied on the representations made by Grainger regarding the Truck. (*Id.*). Further, it is undisputed that Grainger had knowledge of the frame damage at the time it sold the Truck to Target Motors. (R. at 22 ¶¶ 19-27). This is not a case where the seller lacked knowledge at the time of the second sale. Grainger and Manheim were both aware of the Truck's condition and history at the time of the sale to Target Motors.

By conceding that Target Motors did not rely on any of Grand Strand's actions, Target Motors has effectively conceded that Grand Strand was not the "but for" cause of its damages. In other words, how can Grand Strand be the proximate cause of Target Motors' damages when Target Motors admittedly never saw or relied on any representation by Grand Strand? Therefore, the circuit court correctly concluded that there can only be one inference: that Grainger is the sole "but for" cause of Target Motors' damages.

- 2. With respect to legal cause, the subsequent knowing failure to disclose by Target Motors and Manheim broke the causal chain as a matter of law.**

Target Motors argues that the harm was foreseeable and the circuit court erred by finding that intervening causes broke the causal connection.

One is not charged with foreseeing that which is unpredictable or that which could not be expected to happen. When the [original wrongdoer's] negligence appears merely to have brought about a condition of affairs, or a situation in which another

and entirely independent and efficient agency intervenes to cause the injury, the latter is to be deemed the direct or proximate cause, and the former only the indirect or remote cause.

Stone v. Bethea, 251 S.C. at 161–62, 161 S.E.2d at 173. When the evidence permits but one reasonable inference, a question of law is presented for the court. *Young*, 270 S.C. at 464, 242 S.E.2d at 676.

The actions of Grainger and Manheim in sending the Truck back through the auction despite having knowledge of the structural damage are independent acts that were not foreseeable to Grand Strand. It is these actions that were the legal cause of the alleged injury and the actions of Grand Strand are only an indirect or remote cause. Therefore, the circuit court's ruling as to causation should be affirmed.

C. Grand Strand did not communicate with Target Motors nor did Target Motors rely on any representation made by Grand Strand; therefore, Target Motors cannot prevail on its fraud and negligent misrepresentation claims.

As discussed in Footnote 3 above, Target Motors has not appealed the findings in Section 2 of the Circuit Court's order relating to fraud and negligent misrepresentation and those rulings are the law of the case and must be affirmed. In addition, the circuit correctly determined that Grand Strand was entitled to summary judgment on the fraud and negligent misrepresentation claims based on the absence of any representation coupled with the absence of any reliance by Target Motors.

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